1988

Kyle Miller v. Larry D. Lofthouse : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

Jurisdiction was conferred on the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to a transfer of the case by the Utah Supreme Court on September 12, 1988, pursuant to Rule 4(a) of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

This Appeal is taken pursuant to and based upon Rule 3, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court and jurisdiction is conferred upon the Court pursuant to S78-2-2(3)(i) Utah Code Annotated (1988).

This is an appeal from a Final Order of Summary Judgment of the District Court, Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, Judge,

granting Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant upon a medical malpractice claim filed by Kyle Miller against Defendant. The date of the Summary Judgment sought to be reviewed is July 7, 1988.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented by the Appeal center upon whether or not the trial court erred in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent where there existed material questions of fact with respect to including but not necessarily limited to the following:

A. Did Respondent properly inform Appellant of the probable or possible dangers and consequences involved in removing a full bony impacted wisdom tooth sufficient that Appellant underwent said procedures with full informed consent?

B. Did Respondent misrepresent his skill, ability and training necessary to properly diagnose and treat Appellant?

C. Did Respondent commit negligence in the performance of his duties in connection with removing the bony impacted wisdom teeth of Appellant?

D. Did Respondent commit negligence in failing to refer Appellant for appropriate specialized follow-up care in light of the circumstances known by Respondent following Appellant's surgery?

DISPOSITIVE RULES

Subsections (c) and (f) of Rule 56 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are dispositive in this matter and are, therefore, set out verbatim below. The entire text of Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, is provided to the Court in the Addendum to this Brief.

(c) **Motion and Proceedings Thereon.** The motion shall be served at least ten (10) days before the time fixed for the hearing. The adverse party prior to the day of hearing may serve opposing affidavits. The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in nature, may be rendered on the issues of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(f) **When Affidavits are Unavailable.** Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was an action filed by Plaintiff, Kyle Miller, against Defendant for negligence and dental malpractice in connection with the extraction of wisdom teeth and follow-up

care. After little discovery and pursuant to motion made by Respondent, the trial court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent dismissing Appellant's Complaint in its entirety.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are material to a consideration of the questions presented upon appeal:

1. In April, 1983, Appellant consulted Respondent for routine dental work. Appellant was not experiencing difficulty with his wisdom teeth, but upon Respondent's recommendation agreed to the extraction of three wisdom teeth known as teeth numbers 16, 17 and 32.

2. On April 7, 1983, Appellant's tooth number 16 was extracted by Respondent without incident.

3. On April 20, 1983, Respondent extracted tooth number 17 and tooth number 32. Both teeth were described as "full bony impacted."

4. At some point during the extraction of teeth numbers 17 and 32, Appellants lingual nerve was severed resulting in Appellant's suffering numbness and paralysis of the left anterior two-thirds (2/3) of the tongue and lack of sensation in the floor of the mouth.

5. Respondent failed to inform Appellant of the probable or possible dangers and consequences involved in removing a full bony impacted wisdom tooth prior to performing said procedure.

6. Had Appellant been informed of the probable or possible dangers and consequences involved in removing a full bony impacted wisdom tooth, he would not have consented to such a procedure being performed by Respondent.

7. Respondent failed to refer Appellant for appropriate specialized follow-up care for a period in excess of twenty-four (24) months following the procedure and injury to Appellant.

8. After completing appropriate pre-litigation procedures, Appellant filed a Complaint alleging breach of duty and negligence against Respondent which Complaint was filed in September of 1987.

9. In June of 1988, after little discovery and pursuant to motion made by Respondent, the trial court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent dismissing Appellant's Complaint in its entirety.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Summary Judgment should not have been granted by the court below where Affidavits filed with the Court clearly raised material issues of fact.

2. The court below should have in any event granted Appellant the right for additional time to complete discovery or obtain expert testimony, if necessary.

ARGUMENT

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS NEITHER PROPER NOR JUSTIFIED IN THE TRIAL COURT

The granting of a Motion for summary Judgment is justified only when "it serves the salutary purpose of eliminating the time, trouble and expense of a trial which would be to no avail anyway." Summary judgment however, is not justified where there does exist genuine issues of material fact to be decided. It is well established in Utah that:

Summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to the judgment as a matter of law. If there is any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party. Thus, the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. [Emphasis added]

Bowen v. Riverton City, Utah, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (1982), as quoted in Frisbee v. K & K Construction Company, Utah, 676 P.2d 387 (1984). See also Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Utah Supreme Court has gone even further to indicate that the granting of a motion for summary judgment is a harsh remedy and that the sole purpose of summary judgment is to bar from the courts unnecessary and unjustified litigation and only where it clearly appears that the party against whom the judgment would be granted cannot possibly establish a right to recover should such a judgment be granted. Any doubt should be

resolved in favor of such party when summary judgment against him is being considered. See Reliable Furniture Company v. Fidelity and Guaranty Ins. Underwriters, 16 U.(2d) 211, 398 P.2d 685 (1965). It is against this long-standing backdrop that this Court should consider the issues presented on appeal in this matter.

A. Plaintiff's Affidavit, filed in the Court below, clearly raised material issues of fact sufficient to require the District Court to deny Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Affidavit of Kyle Miller filed in the Court below (attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "1"), clearly raised critical issues of fact which required the denial of Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. More specifically, the attachment to that Affidavit, which was made a part thereof, contained a letter from an oral surgeon by the name of Dr. Blaine D. Austin. Among other things, Dr. Austin's letter clearly stated that "lingual nerve parathesia . . . is a report complication of mandibular third molar removal." Dr. Austin's letter also stated, "that as a complication this is something that has been indicated in the Oral Surgery Literature." As such, Dr. Austin's letter clearly raised an issue as to the standard

in the community that a proper practice for the dentist involved in this matter would be to disclose such a risk to a patient.

Dr. Austin, as a respected oral surgeon in the Salt Lake community, also indicated in his letter that, "I believe that it is common that most impacted wisdom teeth are removed by Oral Surgeons" thereby raising the issue complained of by Mr. Miller in his Complaint and his Affidavit that Dr. Lofthouse should have referred him, under the circumstances, for such specialized care.

Likewise, Dr. Austin in his letter made a part of Kyle Miller's Affidavit stated that " . . . being that this was a late date for his injury that the best result would have been obtained, had some type of definitive treatment been initiated within the first six months to a year, as this usually provides the best result." Dr. Austin's statement in this regard also raised a material issue of fact as to the proper follow-up care which Dr. Lofthouse failed to render in this matter.

Each of these issues raised by Dr. Austin in the attachment to Kyle Miller's Affidavit consisted of medical opinion produced by Appellant in the lower Court in opposition to the medical testimony presented by Respondent before Judge Moffat contrary to the representations made by Respondent in his Memorandum in support of his Motion for

Summary Disposition. Each likewise supported the Complaint allegations of negligence against Dr. Lofthouse with expert medical testimony consistent with and as required by Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The courts have traditionally denied summary judgment motions in medical malpractice and negligence cases where any genuine fact issue exists. The reason for this rule was succinctly stated by two experts as follows:

To arbitrarily decide a genuine fact issue under the guise of summary judgment is, of course, a serious deprivation of the fundamental right of trial.

Medical Malpractice, Vol. 1, Louisell & Williams, Para. 12.13 (1988).

The argument of Respondent in the court below and theoretically before this Court appears to be that the medical testimony of Dr. Austin which was made a part of Kyle Miller's Affidavit in the court below, did not go far enough. Our Utah Supreme Court has, however, made it clear that it is the duty of the Court to " . . . evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing Summary Judgment . . . " at such time as it makes its decision. See Frisbee v. K & K Construction Company, Utah, 676 P.2d 387 (1984). Further,

It is said that because of the drastic potentials of a Motion for Summary Judgment, it is almost universal practice to

scrutinize with care and particularity the Affidavits of the moving party while indulging in some leniency with respect to the Affidavits of the opposition. It has been held that upon a motion for summary judgment, the court must be critical of the moving papers but not those in opposition.

73 American Jurisprudence 2nd, Summary Judgment, § 37, P. 764. (Citations omitted).

Defendant Dr. Lofthouse in the court below, by failing to move to strike or otherwise object to Plaintiff's Affidavit and its attachment filed in opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, waived his right to contest the Affidavit with its attachments. See Fox v. Allstate Insurance Company, 22 U.(2d) 383, 453 P.2d 701 (1969). As such, Dr. Austin's statements were admissible for purposes of constituting expert medical testimony in opposition to the medical testimony produced by Respondent in favor of his Motion for Summary Judgment below.

Respondent, in his Memorandum in support of his Motion for Summary Disposition filed earlier with this Court, cited the case of Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 740 P.2d 762 (Ct. of App. of Utah, 1987) decided by this Court, in support of his contention that some medical testimony is necessary to establish the standard of care applicable in a medical malpractice case. Not only did Plaintiff do so in the case at bar, but in the Robinson case, this Court made it clear in its decision that Mrs.

Robinson did not file any affidavits in support of her opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. Robinson, supra., at page 264. Such is not the circumstance of the case at bar. Likewise, even in the Robinson case, the court below granted Robinson thirty (30) days to provide an expert witness to establish her theory of negligence. This was in part done because, in the Robinson case, other possible sources of the injury were set forth and in part because Mrs. Robinson argued that, even if she did have to produce expert testimony on this point, she did not have to do so before trial. Such is not the case at issue here as Appellant Kyle Miller clearly produced expert medical testimony in opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and said Appellant, by Affidavit, clearly indicated that he would be relying at trial on the testimony of Dr. Robert L. Pekarsky to establish the breach of standard of care of the Defendant.

In light of the fact that there were raised and remain material issues of fact to be determined with respect to the questions of informed consent, negligence by Dr. Lofthouse in removing Kyle Miller's wisdom tooth, and follow-up care rendered (or not rendered) by Dr. Lofthouse, the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent and that Order of the District Court should be reversed.

B. Rule 56(f) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
affords Appellant the right for additional time to complete discovery or obtain expert testimony, if necessary.

Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

Should it appear from the Affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

Should this Court decide that the Affidavit of Kyle Miller filed in the court below, together with its attachment, did not establish material issues of fact with respect to the standard of care and the treatment provided by Respondent Dr. Lofthouse thereunder, said affidavit did meet the requirements of Rule 56(f) in every respect. As such, the trial court abused its discretion in not allowing Plaintiff additional time to complete discovery including but not limited to the obtaining of the deposition and/or a sworn statement of Plaintiff's expert.

Paragraph 7 of Kyle Miller's Affidavit states that,

The Plaintiff intends to rely at trial on the testimony of Dr. Robert L. Pekarsky to establish the breach of standard of care by the Defendant. The Plaintiff has

not obtained a written report from Dr. Pekarsky at this time and Dr. Pekarsky's deposition has not yet been taken.

Such a statement clearly raised the issues addressed in Rule 56(f) and was sufficient to call upon the Court to allow Plaintiff additional time to complete discovery and obtain medical expert opinion should the Court have felt that the same was necessary to dispute Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The question of additional time was addressed by Mr. Brown, attorney for Plaintiff, in the court below and was considered by Judge Moffat. Judge Moffat chose, however, to deny Plaintiff additional time to complete discovery or obtain additional expert opinion from Dr. Pekarsky or others. (See Affidavit of C. Reed Brown which is included in the Addendum hereto, marked Exhibit "2" which was also included with Appellant's earlier Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition.) In doing so, the Court abused its discretion.

As pointed out hereinabove, Respondent, in his Memorandum in support of his Motion for Summary Disposition filed earlier with the Court, cited the case of Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., supra. In the Robinson case, however, this Court specifically recognized the application of Rule 56(f) and clearly noted that the lower court in the Robinson case initially denied a motion for

summary judgment made by the defendant doctor and allowed the plaintiff thirty (30) additional days to obtain expert testimony in opposition thereto. It was only after plaintiff in the Robinson case failed to obtain additional expert testimony that the district court granted the summary judgment requested by the defendant in that case.

There need be no formal written motion presented to the court to obtain additional time for discovery under the terms of Rule 56(f). No such requirement exists. On the contrary, the court is given the power to allow a plaintiff under such circumstances additional time to complete discovery and, as has long been recognized, is encouraged to do so.

Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is identical to Rule 56(f) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In explaining the substance and purpose for the Rule, the Federal court has stated the following:

Rule 56(f) permits a party opposing a summary judgment motion to file affidavits stating why he is unable to present by affidavit facts justifying his opposition; Rule 56(e) provides the form of affidavits. When the requirements of Rule 56(f) are met, the court may deny the summary judgment motion, permit a continuance, order more discovery or make any order which is fair.
[emphasis added]

Whitaker v. Department of Human Resources, 86 F.R.D. 689, 691 (1980).

The Utah Court of Appeals, as evidenced by the Robinson case, supra., and others, has long agreed with the foregoing standard in the case of a motion made for summary judgment. This Utah Court, in the case of Hoopiiaina v. Intermountain Health Care, 740 P.2d 270 (Ct. of App. of Utah, 1987), recognized the proper denial of a motion for summary judgment twice based upon the representation of the Plaintiff that he was attempting to obtain expert testimony and would have an expert before trial. See Hoopiiaina, supra., at P. 271. As such, Judge Moffat in the court below should have in any event granted Plaintiff additional time to obtain the written opinion and/or take the deposition of Dr. Pekarsky in order to allow Plaintiff to have filed an affidavit setting out facts essential to justify opposition to Defendant's Motion.

In light of the foregoing, the Trial Court clearly should have granted Appellant relief pursuant to Rule 56(f) in order to allow additional and/or the completion of discovery and to obtain the deposition and/or sworn statement of Plaintiff's medical expert in opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

CONCLUSION

The trial court clearly erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent in the court below where genuine and material issues of fact were raised and remain for decision by a trier of fact. In the event that the trial court decided that Plaintiff had not raised material issues of fact in opposition to Defendant's Motion below, the trial court erred in not applying the standards of Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in granting Plaintiff additional time to complete discovery and obtain the necessary expert medical testimony to contradict the Affidavit filed by Defendant in support of his motion.

WHEREFORE, Appellant respectfully prays that this Court reverse the Summary Judgment granted by the trial court and remand allowing additional discovery to be completed and the matter to proceed through a trial before a trier of fact.