1988

Kyle Miller v. Larry D. Lofthouse : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED

BY THE TRIAL COURT

A. Expert medical testimony was required to establish the standard of care in this case.

The Summary Judgment granted by Judge Richard H. Moffat in favor of Larry D. Lofthouse, D.D.S. should be summarily affirmed inasmuch as Petitioner Kyle Miller clearly failed in the lower court to establish any genuine issue of fact through expert medical testimony that either patient disclosure or the medical

treatments relating to the extraction of wisdom tooth No. 17 was in violation of any standard of care and practice.

Summary judgment is the time for parties to establish that they can prove their case at trial. In McBride v. Jones, 615 P.2d 431 (Utah 1980), the Court stated that in circumstances where the granting of a motion for summary dismissal is justified, it serves the salutary purpose of eliminating the time, trouble and expense of a trial which would be to no avail anyway. Similarly, in Reagan Outdoor Adv., Inc. v. Lundgren, 692 P.2d 776 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court stated that a major purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trial by allowing the parties to pierce the pleadings to determine whether there is a genuine issue to present to the fact finder.

For over 30 years, the Utah Courts have consistently upheld the position that in medical malpractice actions the lack of supporting expert testimony may entitle a defendant to summary judgment as a matter of law. The landmark case which has been adhered to since 1959 in Utah is Marsh v. Pemberton, 10 U.2d 40, 247 P.2d 1108 (1959). The Court stated:

This Court has held that expert testimony is unnecessary to establish liability in malpractice cases only where the question of propriety of treatment of a patient by a physician is a matter of common knowledge of laymen, or when a physician shows a gross neglect or want of care and skill, such as

leaving medical supplies in the incision of a patient.

(Emphasis added).

In the present case, the Affidavit of Respondent's medical expert, Dr. L. Douglas Israelsen, established that a sensory nerve loss such as that complained of by Appellant can occur without negligence on the part of the dentist. And, Judge Moffat in the lower court found that the surgical extraction of a wisdom tooth was a sufficiently complex dental procedure so as to not be within the common knowledge of laymen. The standard of care for such a surgical extraction is a matter that requires expert medical testimony. In the lower court, such expert medical testimony in favor of Dr. Lofthouse's Summary Judgment Motion was supplied by L. Douglas Israelsen, D.D.S. No medical Affidavit or testimony was produced by Respondent in the lower court in opposition to such medical testimony, and Judge Moffat granted summary judgment in favor of Dr. Lofthouse as a matter of law. In Marsh v. Pemberton, Supra, the Court further stated:

In the absence of a standard of care established by expert medical testimony and some evidence showing a deviation from this standard, it must be presumed that the physician skillfully operated on and treated the plaintiff. To allow the question of negligence to be submitted to the jury without first establishing a standard of care would allow a jury to indulge in a type of speculation not generally allowed...It is seldom that a doctor's standard of care,

because it is too specialized, is known or is within the knowledge of a layman.

See also, Robinson v. Intermountain, 740 P.2d 262, 264 (Utah App. 1987); Nixdorf v. Hicken, 612 P.2d 348, 352 (Utah 1980).

These cases all stand for the position that expert medical testimony is required in a malpractice case involving a complex medical procedure such as that at issue in the present action.

B. No genuine issue of fact was established by Appellant to defeat the Summary Judgment Motion.

The specific Complaint allegations of Plaintiff against Dr. Lofthouse included the following:

* * *

13. On April 20, 1983 Defendant proceeded to extract tooth No. 17, but in doing so carelessly and negligently injured the lingual nerve.

14. As a proximate result of the negligence of Defendant, Plaintiff suffers a permanent numbness and paralysis of the left anterior two-thirds of the tongue and lack of sensation in the floor of his mouth...

* * *

17. Defendant breached his duty in that he failed to disclose to plaintiff the risks, dangers and possible consequences involved in removing a full bony impacted wisdom tooth.

* * *

22. Defendant breached his duty to Plaintiff by failing to advise Plaintiff that

his lingual nerve had been severed during the extraction process of tooth No. 17.

23. Defendant knew that Plaintiff's condition was beyond his knowledge or technical skill to treat with the likelihood of reasonable success. Defendant had a duty to disclose this to Plaintiff and to advise Plaintiff that his condition required the services of a health care provider skilled in a special branch of medical surgical science.

24. Defendant failed to refer Plaintiff for appropriate follow-up care.

Petitioner/Plaintiff Kyle Miller failed to support these complaint allegations of negligence against Dr. Lofthouse with expert medical testimony. Petitioner's failure to support his claim with competent expert testimony in the lower court is evidence that such claims were based upon mere conjecture and speculation.

In support of the Summary Judgment Motion in the lower court, Dr. Lofthouse submitted the Affidavit of L. Douglas Israelsen, D.D.S. (See Exhibit "A"). Dr. Israelsen has a D.D.S. Degree and has practiced within the Salt Lake community for more than 11 years. Dr. Israelsen is also a board certified oral and maxillofacial surgeon. The Affidavit of Dr. Israelsen was based upon his independent review of Plaintiff's medical records, x-rays, the pleadings in this action, and a review of the surgical technique utilized by Dr. Lofthouse. Dr. Israelsen's Affidavit affirmatively states the following:

* * *

9. It is my opinion, based upon the foregoing, that Larry D. Lofthouse, D.D.S. appropriately treated Kyle Miller in the removal of wisdom tooth 17 on or about April 20, 1983; and in the follow-up treatments. That the x-rays show that the extraction of Tooth 17 would be within the abilities of Dr. Lofthouse as an experienced general dentist.

10. That despite reasonable and prudent care on the part of a dentist in the extraction of an impacted wisdom tooth, injury or trauma can occur to the lingual nerve which may cause a paresthesia (numbness). Such a paresthesia often repairs naturally with sensation returning to the affected area within six months. However, permanent numbness can occur, which is considered a bad result, but not a result that in and of itself is attributable to any negligence on the part of the dentist.

11. The incidence of permanent lingual nerve injury and paresthesia as the result of the surgical extraction of a wisdom tooth constitutes a remote risk and not a substantial and significant risk; and that such a paresthesia is sufficiently remote that a dentist who extracts an impacted wisdom tooth is not expected to caution a patient about its possibility.

12. That the paresthesia complained of by Kyle Miller is a result and risk that can occur to a patient despite reasonable and prudent care by the treating dentist.

13. That from my total review from all information outlined herein, and based upon my experience and expertise as a dentist and oral surgeon, that it is my opinion that the medical care and treatment rendered by Larry D. Lofthouse, D.D.S. to Kyle Miller complied in all respects with the standards of

professional care, learning, skill and treatment ordinarily possessed and used by dentists in good standing in this and similar communities in April of 1983.

(Emphasis added).

There was no evidence before the lower court which contradicted the testimony of Dr. Israelsen, or otherwise established that Dr. Lofthouse's negligence caused the plaintiff's injuries. A case precisely on point is Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 740 P.2d 262 (Ct. of App. of Utah, 1987). In that case a medical malpractice action was brought against the hospital for injuries from a severe infection allegedly introduced by injection. The Third District Court entered summary judgment for the hospital and an appeal was taken. The Court of Appeals, Jackson, Judge, held that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur was not applicable to that case and that the hospital was not liable absent expert testimony contradicting the hospital's expert testimony that non-negligent causes of plaintiff's infection were probable. The Court noted that, "Robinson did not file any affidavits in support of her **opposition** to the Motion for Summary Judgment." She did attempt to direct the Court to certain deposition testimony. The Court noted that in a medical malpractice case, like other negligence cases, it must be shown as follows:

The elements of a negligence action are 1) duty of reasonable care owed by the defendant to plaintiff; 2) a breach of that duty; 3) the causation, both actually and proximately, of the injury; and 4) the suffering of damages by the plaintiff. Weber v. Springville City, 725 P.2d at 1363. In most medical negligence cases, a plaintiff must introduce expert testimony to establish the first and second element, i.e., the standard of care and a breach of that standard. Nixdorf v. Hicken, 612 P.2d 348, 352 (cited at pg. 264).

(Emphasis added).

The Court, at pg. 266, cited with approval the following language from an earlier decision:

The fact that plaintiff's disability resulted from an uncommon or rare occurrence does not relieve him of the burden of establishing causation. An inference of negligence cannot be permitted solely upon the basis that the plaintiff developed a rare complication while undergoing medical and surgical treatment. The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur has no application unless it can be shown from past experience that the occurrence causing the disability is more likely the result of negligence than some other cause.

Applying the facts of the Robinson case to the case at issue, the paresthesia is a reported complication that can follow wisdom tooth extractions without negligence on the part of an operating surgeon. (See Affidavit of Dr. Israelsen). Dr. Israelsen's Affidavit further notes that it is a "remote" risk, and not a "substantial and significant risk," and as such a

dentist is not required to disclose its possible occurrence to a patient.

The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, at §78-14-5(f), only requires that a patient be informed of a "substantial and significant risk." Remote risks need not be disclosed. See also, Ficklin v. MacFarlane, 550 P.2d 1295 (Utah 1976).

The Court in Robinson further stated as follows:

In order to create a genuine factual dispute on this point, Robinson thus had to come forward with evidence to counter Dr. Burke's affidavit opinion--that non-negligent causes of her infection were probable--with expert testimony to the effect that Robinson's infection most likely resulted from negligence, assuming it was possible to find an expert who could and would make such a statement.

* * *

Since appellant did not submit evidence creating a genuine issue of fact about the most likely cause of her injuries, the trial judge properly proceeded to conclude that respondents were entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

(Emphasis added, at pg. 267).

In the present case, Petitioner Kyle Miller failed to produce an expert medical affidavit in opposition to the Affidavit of Dr. Israelsen. Petitioner Miller did file, and relied solely on, his own Affidavit. Paragraphs 2 and 3 of that Affidavit state that Dr. Lofthouse did not explain to Kyle Miller

the risks of lingual nerve paresthesia or provide a consent form that contained any warning about lingual nerve paresthesia. However, no standard of disclosure from a medical expert is provided in behalf of Kyle Miller, and the Affidavit of Dr. Israelsen specifically states that such a paresthesia is a remote risk and not a substantial and significant risk, and that a general dentist is not expected to disclose such a risk to a patient. And as a matter of statutory law, such a risk need not be disclosed. See §78-14-5(f), U.C.A. Accordingly, no factual dispute was raised by Kyle Miller's Affidavit concerning a standard of disclosure and informed consent.

Paragraph 4 of Kyle Miller's Affidavit claims that he was never informed by Dr. Lofthouse that "extractions of this type are normally performed by oral surgeons and not by general dentists." Even if we were to assume that the letter of January 23, 1987 from Dr. Blaine Austin attached to Kyle Miller's Affidavit was appropriate and in a proper Affidavit form to counter a Rule 56 motion, Dr. Austin only suggested, "I believe that it is common that most impacted wisdom teeth are removed by oral surgeons and that as a complication this is something that has been indicated in the oral surgery literature." This does not establish any standard, breach or causation as required in a medical negligence case. To the contrary, it supports the result

as a reported complication. Furthermore, the Affidavit of Dr. Israelsen specifically states that based upon his review of Kyle Miller's x-rays taken by Dr. Lofthouse that the extraction was well within the capabilities of Dr. Lofthouse as an experienced general dentist. Thus, no factual dispute is raised on this issue by Mr. Miller's Affidavit.

Finally, paragraph 7 of Kyle Miller's Affidavit notes that he "intends to rely at trial on the testimony of Dr. Robert L. Perkasky to establish the breach of a standard of care by the defendant." In the Robinson case, Supra, Petitioner made the same argument. At page 264, the Court notes, "Finally, she argued that, even if she did have to produce expert testimony on this point, she did not have to do so before trial." The Court expressly rejected this argument, as did Judge Moffat in this case. See Affidavit of David H. Epperson, Exhibit "A".

CONCLUSION

The Summary Judgment Order of Judge Richard H. Moffat in favor of Dr. Larry D. Lofthouse should be summarily affirmed based upon the clear record of the lower court which found no factual dispute in favor of Respondent, and which found a total lack of expert medical testimony in favor of Kyle Miller to counter the medical testimony of Affiant L. Douglas Israelsen, D.D.S. Appellant Miller chose to rely on his own deficient

Affidavit to oppose the Summary Judgment Motion and did not make a Motion to Continue and did not "present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition" to the timing of the hearing as required by Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. No reversible error should be claimed against the lower court for Petitioner's own failure to timely establish by Affidavit and expert medical testimony any genuine issue of fact.